
General Assembly 
SIXTH COMMITTEE 

35th meeting 
held on 

Tuesday, 12 November 1991 
at 10 a.m. 

Official Records New York 

Chairman: 

later: 

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 35th MEETING 

Mr. AFONSO (Mozambique) 

Mr. SANDOVAL 
(Vice-Chairman) 

(Ecuador) 

CONTENTS 

AGENDA ITEM 128: REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION ON THE WORK OF 
ITS FORTY-THIRD SESSION (continued) 

AGENDA ITEM 131: REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON THE CHARTER OF THE UNITED 
NATIONS AND ON THE STRENGTHENING OF THE ROLE OF THE ORGANIZATION (continued) 

AGENDA ITEM 124: UNITED NATIONS PRUGRAMME OF ASSISTANCE IN THE TEACHING, 
STUDY, DISSEMINATION AND WIDER APPRECIATION OF INTERNATIONAL LAW 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
Enql ish 
Page 2 

AGENDA ITEM 128: REPORT OF THL INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSlON ON THE WORK OF 
ITS FORTY-THIRD SESSION (cQn!&luQd) (A/46/10, A/46/405) 

1, ML JMXJNEZ..PQNPBA (Argontim), referring to the programme of work of 
the International Law Commission, observed that if no new items were added, 
the Commission would soon be dealing only with State responsibility, 
international liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not 
prohibited by international law, and relations between States and 
international organizations, His delegatioil therefore considered that the 
addition of other items would help to maintain continuity in the Commission’s 
contribution to the codification and progressive development of international 
law. For instance, the recognition of States, Governments and legal 
situations, a classic theme of international law, had evolved considerably in 
recent years and might deserve to be studied, Similarly, items related to the 
environment ilere certainly very urgent, and legal principles needed to be 
formulated to help States t’, cooperate on environmental protection. With 
regard to the topics already Muggested for consideration, he questioned 
whether the law of confined international groundwaters should be studied, as 
such waters constituted a very large percentage of the Earth’s available 
drinking water. In any case, before taking a decision concerning that topic 
it would be advisable to consider the extent to which such confined waters 
were used in human activities and how necessary international legal regulation 
t:heroof might be. An in-depth review of the Commission’s future agenda was 
necessary and should, perhaps, be undertaken by a special working group. In 
any event, the Commission should not take on, or hate imposed on it, 
unrealistic topics or impossible missions, but should examine more practical 
guestions and those of great utility tc States. 

2, On several occasions, delegations had expressed the view that the 
Commission’s methods of work were too dilatory. In view of the high quality 
of the Commission’s work, however, such concerns seemed a little exaggerated. 
That was not to say that those methods could not be improved, particularly in 
the case of the Drafting Committee, which took a very responsible approach to 
its difficult task but could nevertheless function in a somewhat more orderly 
and oxpedi t ious fashion. 

3, With respect to the topic “Jurisdictional immunities of States and their 
property”, Argentina planned to present written observtiLions, as requested by 
the Commission, but that might take some time since various departments 1-f the 
S’.ate, apart from the Ministry for Foreign Affairs, were involved, 

4, As many delegations had observed, in doctrine and in practice there were 
two diametrically opposed positions with regard to the scope of State 
immunity , The Commission’s great contribution had been to reconcile both 
positions in a single text, although it was clear from the remarks of some 
clslegations that that goal had not been fully achieved. In that context, it 
was necessary to consider how to proceed; one suggestion was that a 



A/C!.6/46/SR,35 
English 
Page 3 

comprehensive convention on the matter was necessary or at least would be very 
useful. That seemed to be the opinion of many delegations, and Argentina 
agreed. It also welcomed the idea of convening a working group of the Sixth 
Committee before the holding of a codification conference 80 aa to overcome 
through negotiation any differences of opinion that might persist. 

5. With respect to the draft articles on the law of the non-navigational 
uses of international watercourses, his delegation agreed with the broad 
outlines of the draft, the essence of which was contained in articles 2, 5, 6 
and 7, The draft recognised the concept of a watercourse “system”, or the 
idea that the waters of such a system were interconnected in such a way that 
they constituted, by virtue of their phyuical rolationahip, a unitary whole. 
That concept :lhould extend to all the waters making up a system, including 
groundwater, since what was done in any part of the system would affect the 
rest. The more groundwater connected with international watercourses a 
country had, the greater its need to have some means of protecting its water 
resources, The concept of a watercourse system implied a close relationship 
between watercourse States, since they shared a natural reaourcej their 
solidarity was certainly greater than mere good-neighbourlinesn. They were 
not so much neighbours as joint ownera. 

6. With respect to article 7, some delegations hab expressed doubts as to 
the appropriateness of using the word “appreciable” to qualify “harm”. The 
word did introduce an element of subjectivity, but it provided a threshold 
that could be aet higher or lower depending whether the word wab interpreted 
to mean “significant” or “substantial”, for instance. The Special Rapporteur 
and the Commission preferred to keep the threshold low) Argentina, too, had 
concluded various agreements with neighbouring countries using the Spanish 
phrase “d&~,-#~~“, which in English was translated as “appreciable”, and 
accordingly preferred that term to others. His delegation considered the 
principle of non-discrimination acceptable, but wondered, in view of its 
nature, whether ‘,t should not be included in part II, “General principlea”. 

7. With respect to the draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security 
of Mankind, his delegation considered that important aspects of the topic 
would require a decision at the political level, but that the Commission 
should deal with the technical aspects and overcome any foreseeable legal 
obstacles so as to enable Governments to take a political decision, 

0. Penalties should not be left to the sole decision of the courts, as their 
corsistency would be affected and the principle uum crj&)m, gulla 
tine lega might be violated, In liberal criminal law, penalties should always 
be known before the offences were committed. The beat solution would be the 
one provisionally adoptod by the Commission, namely, that ponaltiss should be 
set in the Cods itself. However, a single penalty could not be established 
for all offences; rather, each crime should entail a penalty that varied 
between a given minimum and maximum at the discretion of the judge, That was 
the system followed in the penal codes of many countries. 



i’ A/C,6/46/SR,35 .J 
\ English 
, Page 4 

I ., 9, With regard to an international criminal court, in theory, any legal 
,- order should have its own court, but establishing such a court would entail 

practical difficulties. The decision whether to establish the court or not 
was basically a political decision that would depend on the evolution of the 
international community and its collective values. The General Assembly’s 
failure to pronounce on the question could be interpreted as indicating that 
it was an idea whose time had not yet come, The matter was a complex one 
which the Commission should continue to study. 

10, The topic “State responsibility” had been on the Commission’s agenda 
., since 1975, but no substantial progress had been made. Higher priority should 

therefore be given to the topic, 

11. With respect to international liability for injurious consequences 
sriaing out of acts not prohibited by international law, much had been said 
about the lack of agreement on the basic premises of the draft. The Special 
Rapporteur had included provisional article3 in successive reports to 
stimulate debate and not as concrete proposals. However, hroad areas of 
consensus, or trends of thought that could lead to future consensus, were 
apparent in chapter V of the Commission’s report, on the following points. 

12, The basic priilciplo, inspired by article 21 of the Stockholm Decluration, 
would recognize the free exercise of all human activities not: prohibited by 
the State in its territory, within the limits imposed by liability for the 
harmful consequences thereof beyond the borders of the State] the victim 
should not be left to bear the loss alone. Liability was based on harm, and 
not on risk! there had previously been much confusion on that point. There 
was a consensus on the principle of cooperation to prevent incidents and on 
the containment and minimization of trannboundsry harm. The majority of 

i ’ delegations would prefer that prevention procedures should be the subject of a 
separate non-binding instrument, but would agree that States should assume a 

D unilateral prevention obligation (i.e. the obligation to adopt the necessary 
lawa and regulations and the appropriate political and judicial measures. A 
very large majority was in favour of compensation for any trnnsboundary harm 
caused, and there was agreement on the principle of non-discrimination set 
forth in article 10. There was also agreement as to t.he role to be played 
with regard to the topic by the concept of balance of interests. A very iarge 
majority was in favour of using the tertn “activities” rather than the term 
“acts” in the title of the topic. Au liability was based on transboundary 

1 harm, the latter included the harm produced by activities involving risk as 
well as by those with harmful effects. There should be a threshold for harm, 

; but there was no agreement on its level or on the modifying adjective to de 

‘i 
usec¶j both “appreciable” and “signif icant” had been suggested, although the 
latter seemed to be preferred. Harm had to be a physical consequence of the 

D’ activity in question. A large majority thought the articles should regulate 
f civil liability, and that any liability incurred by the State should be 
i 

;: 
residual in nature. Lastly, there was a consensus that the final instrument 

1’ should be more general and simpler than the draft. 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 5 

13. Many members of the Commission and many delegations had recommended a 
high priority for the topic during the next quinquenniumj h’ 9s legat ion 
agreed with that recommendation. A simple, brief and priW .-based 
instrument seemed to represent the only chance for consensl ,.& an arca where 
numerous conventions regulated specific dangerous or harmful activities. 

14. t&..mJSAS. (Yugoslavia) said that the topic of State responsibility, which 
the Commission had been unable to consider in 1991 for lack of time, waa the 
most important one on its agenda. The topic had been selected aa suitable for 
consideratioli as early as 1949, but its codification was still a long way off, 
and the Commission should therefore give it priority. 

15. On international liability for injurious consequences arising out of acta 
not prohibited by international law, he supported the idea of replacing the 
word ‘(acts” in the title by “activities”, particularly in view of the 
translation of the future instrument into the majority of languages spoken in 
Yugoslavia, but sow deeper problems with the title, relating to the acope and 
co.ntent of the draft articles. The draft dealt exlusively with the protection 
and preservation of the environment, although some other activities not 
prohibited by international law could entail international liability; for 
example, financial, trade or traffic activities. That content should be mere 
accurately reflected in the title. Furthermore, Liability, the key word in 
the exisiting title, was dealt with in only one part of the draft instrument. 
Equally important in the text, and obviously more acceptable to States, were 
the provisions on international cooperation in preventing injurious 
consequences. 

16. His delegation had no definite, preference for either a binding or a 
recommendatory instrument. Treaties, however, had a greater impact on the 
behaviour of States than any kind of so-called “soft law”. In any event, the 
nature of the instrument should be decided soon, as the concept of the rules 
adopted and their drafting could differ widely in consequence. 

17, It should be borne in mind that many global and regional inatrumentn 
already existed on environmental protection, and particularly on the 
prevention and abatement of marine pollution, but it was also true that States 
avoided accepting provisions on liability. Even in cases of catastrophes such 
as Chernobyl, States reacted by concluding trestles on early notification, 
assistance and other similarly important and, for them, more acceptable 
responsibilities in respect of environmental protection, rather than by 
discussing and applying civil liability and compensation. fience, States might 
not be extremely enthusiastic about adopting and ratifying a convention 
containing elaborate rules on civil lia)Jility, In any event, Yugoslavia would 
not favour a division of the draft articles into two instruments, ons 
representing “hard law” and the other “soft law”. 



i 
A1C.61461SR.35 
English 
Page 6 

E 

18. With respect to the scope of the topic, his delegation agreed with the 
Special Rapporteur that the instrument should deal both with activities 
involving risk and with those causing transboundary harm, and should treat 
them together. 

19. Yugoslavia did not favour the inclusion of a list of dangerous substances 
in the instrument itself, though such a list could be annexed in the form of 
guidelines, 

20. In respect of the principles relevant to the topic, his delegation agreed 
with the approach of the Special Rapporteur, and indeed had advocated the 
previous year strict liability for the operator, with residual liability being 
assigned to the State. 

21. On the principle of prevention, his delegation had to take into account 
the relevant facts of the current war in the Republic of Croatia. Damage to 
the environment of Yugoslavia was already considerable and threats of 
transboundary harm were very ,lerious. Most of such damage had been caused by 
acts that could be qualified as crimes ageitxst the peace and security of 
mankind, Ho .rever , some of the harmful activities undertaken in order to avoid 
the effects of such crimes, as well as other haaardous activities caused by 
the war, were permitted under international law. In view of that unfortunate 
example, the competent international organizaticns might take a more active 
role than was proposed in draft articles 11 and 12. The United Nations 
Environment Programme or another oody of the United Nations system should be 
entrusted with entering into contact with and influencing ail those concerned 
so as to avoid or at least lessen the threat to nature. Naturally, Yugoslavia 
was not in favour of any separation of the substantive provision on 
prevention, contained in article 8, from the articles on the procedure for 
carrying out prevention. 

22. Harm to the “global commons” should be included in the draft articles. 
The main principles of cooperation, prevention, and so on, should be 
appropriately applied to any harm caused beyond the limits of naLLona1 
jurisdiction, whether to another State or to mankixld as a whole. The fact 
that the problems of liability were even more complicated in the case of harm 
to the “global commons” than in respect of harm caused to States and their 
citizens, should not play a decisive role with regard to the extension of the 
scope of thtt instrument. 

24. Yz.s c .&QHES ( Uruguay) , referring to the topic of “International liability 
for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international 
1 aw” , said that the crux of the que:tion vas prevention and reparation of 
transboundary harm. From the outset of the Commission’s work on the topic, 
there had been a tendency to reject the existence of illegality in respect: of 
transboundary harm. Her delegation felt, however, that such illeqality could 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
Enqliah 
Page 7 

exist and that it was therefore possible to secure reparation on the basis of 
classic international responsibility. A State, in authorizinq or carrying out 
an activity, was implicitly authorising the connequences of such activity, If 
those consequences constituted transboundary harm the right of territorial 
sovereignty of the other State was infringed and that State was forced to bear 
damage in an area which was outside the jurisdiction or control of the State 
of origin of the activity, States had an obligation not to use or allow the 
use of their territory in a way that would infringe on the riqhts of other 
States. l’ransboundary harm infringed on the territorial integrity and 
inviolability of other States, and was in violation of the duty of 
non-interference laid down in customary international law and embodied in the 
precept “n.iuMxa_-bc~slienumnon” b It could also infringe upon 
the right to life, health, property, and so on and could be detrimental to the 
environment and to permar:nt sovereiqnty over natural resources. Those 
considerations did not exclude the possibility of an absolute liability regime 
in cases of transboundary harm. The affected party could opt to secure 
reparation under the liability regime most suited to him, as had occurrecl in 
the case of the &JT!Q.cQ~..~~~ oil tanker. Minor damage should be covered under 
the application of the general principle of good-neighbourliness laid down in 
the Preamble and in Article 74 of the Charter of the United Nations. 

25. Her delegation agreed that the title of the topic should be changed and 
simplified. It could then be made clear in the text that the activities 
referred to in the title were not prohibited by international law, because 
otherwise reparations for damage would be based on classic internationai 
responsibility. Her deleqation felt that that instrument should be a 
framework convention with binding force. 

26. In respect of activities involving risk, it was very difficult to 
determine whether there was a higher thsn normal probability of causing 
transboundary harm) it might therefore be more useful to refer to any activity 
that could cause such harm. In some circumstances activities such as routine 
agricultural operations could be more harmful than those classified as 
activities “involving risk”. It would also be useful to include in the draft 
the principle that t.he innocent. victim should not. be left to bear the loss 
alone. 

27. Her delegation felt it was appropriate to apply the criterion of balance 
of interests not only in the case of reparation but also in determining 
whether it was possible to carry out or continue carrying out an activity 
which normally caused transboundary harm and, in such cases, to fix the 
acceptable level of harm, reparation for such harm and measuren to be adopted 
to prevent such damage. Preventive measuxes should be applied not only for 
activities involving risk but also for those which actually caused 
transboundary harm. In the first case the object would be to avoid the 
occurrence of harm and in the second it would be to avoid an increase in 
transboundary harm or reduce the frequency of its occurrence, .\dditional 
protocols could be formulated concerning specific activities ,!nd establishing 
requirements for them. 



A/C.6/46/SM.35 
English 
Page 8 

28, Her delegation supported the idea nf including procedural norms for 
applying preventive measures as well ss a system for the peaceful settlement 
of disputes, It agreed that the obligation to make reparation should fall to 
the operator and secondarily to the State of origin of the transboundary 
harm. That State should provide reparation when, for example, the operator 
could not be identified, There could be an obligation for the State of origin 
to require from the operator an adequate guarantee that ha would provide 
reparation for any harm that occurred. The reparation should cover all damage 
that occurred, but could be supplemented by principles designed to regulate 
the amount of reparation on the basia of the criterion of balance of 
interests. Norms could be included to facilitate the use of domestic 
legislation for the purposes of securing reparation for harm. It could be 
established that the State of origin could not invoke immunity of jurisdiction 
and that there should be equality of ACC~SCJ to courts. A more remote 
possibility was to provide for public defence lawyers who could defend 
innocent victims in the courts of the State that carried out an activity. 

29. As noted in paragraph 241 of thu Commission’s report, the principle of 
liability should be based not on risk, but on the concept of harm. In the 
field of international law, the persohs who were entitled to make claims 
varied according to the type of liability that was established. In the case 
of absolute liability, the person or persons who suffered the damage (the 
State and/or individuals or legal entities) would be able to cla!m 
compensation. In the case of classic international responsibility for an 
illegal act, only States would have the right to seek reparation. However 
States, through the exercise of diplomatic protection, could secure 
reparations for damage suffered by individuals. Her delegation felt that it 
would be unjust to require that an individual first exhaust domestic remedies 
in the State of origin of the activity; there was no connection between the 
innocent victim and the State of origin. The problem of immunity from 
jurisdiction of the State of origin of the damage also arose. 

33. On the question whethe; an activity that normally caused transboundary 
harm or could cause such harm should be suspended, two situations were 
involved! when the activity had not yet boen started or was being planned, 
and when the activity was being carried out. In the first case it would be 
useful not to begin the activity until the end nf a fixed period during which 
negotiations should be conducted with States which might be affected so as to 
reach agreement.1 failure to reach agreement within the time-limit cf,**Td amount 
to c veto. In the second case, it could be agreed that the activity would 
continue during a fixed period with the obligation of reaching a negotiated 
agreement; without such a time-limit, f r,ilure to reach agreement wou Id be a 
means for one State to force another State to bear harm it did not wish to 
accept, 

31. It was uaeful to include the problem of the construction of major works 
in the draft. In respect of traneboundary harm caused by natural phenomena in 
the territory of a State, specific norlns could be established for prevention 



A/C.6/46/SR*35 
Engl i sh 
Page 9 

and obligaticns could be laid down for the State in which the damage 
originated individually and in cooperation with affected State8 LO adopt 
meanurea to reduce the harmful effactm. 

32. The subject of “global commons” nesded to be considered separately 
becaure of the special legal regimes involved. 

33, Mr. YeMADA (Japan), speaking on the topic “International liability for 
injurious consequences ariairg out of acts not prohibited by incernntional 
law”, noted that the International Law Commission had held useful diacusaions 
on the seventh report of the Special Rapporteur, to whom thanks were due. The 
report provided a good basic for further progreen in what was predominantly an 
exercise in the progressive development of international law rather than in 
the codification of existing rules. 

34. With regard to the nature of the instrument being drafted he considered 
that, before determining what kind of legal instrument or instruments should 
be prepared, the Commission should clarify the types of harm to be covered by 
the draft articles. Existing conventions covering apscific activities 
provided for a variety of distinct liability regimea. For example, air 
traffic accidents were covered mainly by civil liability, whereas in the case 
of nuclear accidents there wa8 both civil and State liability and, in the cam 
of damage caused by space objects, the State was exclusively responsible. 
Fur thermore, with environmental problems the nature of liability varied 
d6pending on whether harm wa8 caused to the atmonphere, the ocean or land. 
For those reaaon8, it would be difficult for the Commission to determine the 
nature of the proposed instrument without first clarifying and categorising 
the typea of harm to be covered. If the Commfssion was going to draw up a 
general framework agreament I the relationship between that agreement and 
existing conventions on specific activities, au well aa agreements likely to 
be concluded on either a bilateral or a multilateral baaia in the futurs, 
should be made completely clear. The framework agreement would then have 
vnlue aa a code of conduct or a set of guidelines or recommendations tc;, aerve 
as a reference for States when drawing up separate conventiona. However, 
zonaidering the importance of the topic aa wet11 as the Commission’s own 
~~BQJJ d’u, the Commission ehould not settle for a “soft law” instrument 
but strive to produce a legally binding document. In any event, it wa8 
essential that the Commission should determine which part of the topic wau 
mature enough to be codif ied as “hard law”. 

35. With regard to the principle8 and rules applicable to liability to be 
included in the draft articles, his delegation did not think it wan 
appropriate to treat the general rules of strict liability aa general 
principles of international law in that area, Introducing the idea of strict 
liability also seemed premature because views on that issue were divided even 
among the Commission’s members. Where the notion of strict liability had been 
incorporated in existing international laws, it was more or leaa confined to 
ultra-hazardous activities as defined in the relevant multilateral 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 10 

conventionst moreover, even in those conventions there was significant 
divezsity as to the grounds for liability, the reasons for exemption, the 
allocation of liability and the extent to which the State was liable1 
procedures for remedy also varied according to the type sf activity in 
question. In the view of his delegation, the concept of strict liability 
should be treated only in specific instruments covering well-defined areas. 

36. A further source of complexity was the fact that the draft articles 
covered acts or activities which wore carried out mainly by private entities, 
either individuals or enterprises, In the case of harm caused by the 
activities of trananational corporations, the question of State liability 
would give rise to great difficulty because the international community had 
not yet reached agreement on the legal status of multinational corporations or 
on a code of conduct to govern their activities. 

37, As to the problem of harm to the “global commons”, his delegation did not 
think it appropriate to refer to it in the proposed instrument in view of the 
vagueness of the concept, the difficulty of determining the State or States of 
origin or the State or States affected, and that of assessing the harm in 
question, As already stated at the forty-fifth session, Japm recognized the 
growing importance of protecting the “global commons”. However, if the 
international community was to give that unexplored field the thought it 
deserved and deal with it on the basis of professional scientific knowledge, 
it would first have to decide on an appropriate mechanism for international 
cooperation. To establish new legal principles of ‘international liability in 
that field at the current stage would be premature, 

38, In view of the relationship between the topic under consideration and 
that of State responsibility, hia delegation had initially taken the view that 
work on international liability should be deferred at least until the first 
reading of parts one to three of the draft articles on State responsibility 
had been more or less completed. In the light of increasing world-wide 
concern about the environment, however, his delegation recognised the growing 
need to establish rules in that field. It was to be hoped that, in the course 
of the future consideration of the topic, the relationship and linkage between 
it and State responsibility would be clarified, not only conceptually but also 
from the point of view of practical application to specific situations. 

39. Althouqh the Commission’s work on the topic was undoubtedly of a 
pioneering nature, kith few precedents to rely on, his Government fully 
recognised the need for the early establishment of legal rules in that field 
and therefore hoped that the Commission would hold exhaustive discussions 
taking into account the diverse views of its members on basic concepts and 
other important issues. For its part, Japan intended to contribute positively 
to that work, 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 11 

40, Turning to chapter VII of the report, on State responsibility, ho said 
that, since the Commission had been unable to consider that topic at ite 
forty-third sesnion owing to lack of time, he would rubmit his comments 
following substantive deliberations at the next tmasion. He wished to affirm, 
howeve f , that hia Qovernment attruched great importance to the topic and hoped 
that the first reading of the remaining parts of the draft articles would be 
completed an noon aa possible. 

41, l&.~jJ~UjA& (Greece) said that, every year since 1978, the Sixth 
Committee and the International Law Commission had grappled with the topic 
under comideration, whose title bore witners to its inherent complexity. 
Everyone wan fascinated by technological developments and sometimes alarmed by 
the rate at which the environment was deteriorating, but reaching agreement on 
the role of international law in that field wan a difficult matter. However, 
the Commission’s mandate in respect of the topic of international liability 
for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international 
law was only indirectly related to the environment, Some agreement did appear 
to be forming around the proposition that the innocent victim of transboundary 
activities which, although lawful, entailed certain riaka, should not be left 
to bear the costs, That proposition, however, was essentially an offshoot of 
the larger problem of responsibility or liability as such. 

42, Tn view of the legal difficulties involved in establishing a causal 
relationship between prevention and reparation, the suggeution that the 
Coiruniasion might contemplate drafting two separate instruments, one dealing 
with liability and the other with prevention, seemed to open the way to an 
acceptable arrangement. Discussions in the Comminsion and the Sixth 
Committee, including the informal consultations held on the topic on 
8 November 1991, offered the fullest possible picture of the main positions 
held with regard to the topic. 

43. Aa stated on several previous occasions, his delegation agreed that the 
scope of the topic should include activities involving risk of causing 
transboundary harm, reparation in the event of harm, and the procedure 
governing reparation. In its view, the Commission’s position on both aspects 
of the topic - prevention as well as reparation - would be atrengthenod by a 
study of internal legislation in those fields, including laws covering 
insurance and those applicable to specific sectors such as transport or other 
activities the effects of which went beyond the territory of one State or 
which actually took place in areaa outaide the jurisdiction and control of any 
state. With the help of such a study the Committee would be better equipped 
to establish a regime of reparation for transboundary harm caused by lawful 
activities, to be applied either to the operator alone or to the State as 
well. As to the suggestion that a preliminary ~.:ision should be taken on the 
form and the residual character of the instruments to be drafted. his 
delegation, would have no objection on that point but was not altogether 
hopeful about the outcome. 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 12 

44. u. BQCNPBACONO (Thailand), speaking first on the draft article8 on the 
law of the non-navigational ULIOI of international watercouraea, said that his 
delegation, teprurenting aa it did a watercoursa State, naturally attached 
great importance to the topic, With regard to article 2, ho aaid that, in his 
delegation’s view, there wan clearly some virtue in not giving too broad a 
definition to the term O@watercJurde”. His delegation remained uncomfortable 
with the use of the @tisyatem*’ concept, and felt that further deliberations on 
that point would be useful. 

45. Drawing crttention to the term “appreciable harm”, which appeared in 
articles 7 and 21, the word “appreciable” also being used in articlea 3 and 4, 
he aaid that his delegation waa not convinced that the word OOappreciableV’ was 
approprSate in the contextls in which it waa used. T? protect the rights of a 
potent.ially affacted watercourse State without at the same time providing 
adequate protection for the interests of all wntercouras Statea would be 
inconsistent with the principlea of equity, The auF.Yect.ive nature of the word 
*@appreciable” might be exploited by some watsrcaurab Statea with the intention 
of disrupting the proper use of an international watercourse by another 
wa+,ercourrs State. His delegation felt that terms such a& “serious harm” or 
“aubatantial harm” would be preferable aa allowing adequate protection of the 
interest8 of all watercourse States. 

46. The principle that States in which an international watercourse 
originated should enjoy priority use of that watercourse waa a logical 
extension of the principle of aovareigntyr however, Statea enjoying priority 
use naturally had to do their best to prevent injury to downstream StaLes. A 
proper balance had to be preserved between the interests of those two 
categories of Statea. His delegation considered that in the case of dangctr of 
a primarily natural origin, the upstream State should notify affected 
downstream States aa noon aa practicable, but when the potential injury waa a 
result of human activities, the State of origin of the international 
watercourse should be legally obliged to inform other affected States 
promptly. The exchange of available data and information concerning the usea 
of a watercourse should be encouraged, Exchanges should take place on a 
regular basis when that was required under a specific agreement between the 
States concerned. 

47. Turning to the topic “International liebility for injurious consequences 
arising out of acts not prohibited by international law”, he remarked that the 
topic continued to be a difficult onet a great deal of work still remained to 
be done. By way of example, he said that while there seemed to be gener*l 
agreement to the effect that States should be placed under a legal obligation 
to prevent tra..:boundary harm and had a Usty to notify other States concerned, 
the extent cf .110ae duties and the penalty for failure to comply remrrined 
unclear. 

48. With regard to the title of the topic, his delegation shared the view 
that t! . word “activities” would be more appropriate than the word “acts”, 
which was felt to be too restrictive, The aim cf the exercise was, after ali, 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 13 

to prevent activities, including those carried out by non-State entities, from 
causing transboundary harm. His delegation therefore fully supported the 
proposal to change the title of the topic as boon aa possible. 

49, It was also his delegation’s view that the State of origin should be 
fully liable even in cases where tranaboundary harm waa due to the activities 
of a private entity; in all cases of transboundary harm, the State of origin 
should pay compensation quickly and to the fulleat extent. Lastly, on the 
question of the inclusion of a list of dangerous nubstances, his delegation 
wished to advocate a flexible approacil, It was to be feared that an 
exhaustive list might hinder rather than facilitate the performance of what 
wan already a most difficult teak, 

50, Turning next to the topic ““raft Code of Crimes againet the Peace and 
Security of MankinU”, he said that there again, the list of crimes included in 
the draft Code should be non-exhaustive with a view to maintaining 
flexibility. The draft Code needed to be responsive to any new and au yet 
unanticipated dimension of cr3.mea. The non-exhaustive nature of the list 
should therefore be clearly stated. 

51, The question of the establishment of an international criminal court had 
given rise to some highly useful and inturerting Uacussions in the 
Commfssion, His delegation considsrcgd that efforts to identify the elements 
and issues involved should continue. Effective systems of universal 
jurisdiction did, of course, already exist for a large number cf crimes. An 
international criminal court. should only be estabiiehed if the certainty 
existed thtit it would definitely add to those systems. The full implications 
of the establishment of such a court must therefore be carefully considered in 
advance. In the meantime, international efforts to enhance international 
cooperation in suppressing crimes against the peace and security of mankind 
outside the context of an international criminal court should continue with 
added vigour. The importance of bilateral and multilateral agreement8 to 
fight such crimes could not be ovaremphasiaed. Effective extradition treaties 
were vitally important, as wore bilateral and multilateral treaties on mutual 
assistance in the area of criminal inveatiyation pronecutions and other 
related proceedings. Yis delegation wished to urge all States to enter into 
as many extradition and mutual aflsistance treatip-: as possible, 

52. In conclusion, he stressed the impor,ance of the role played by the 
International Law Commission during the United Netions Decade of Internntionol 
Law. The success of the Decade depended to a great extent on the Commiaaion’a 
work. His delegation hoped that the Commission’s next quinquennium would be 
as fruitful as the period currently drawing to a clorra, 

53. Mr, PETROL (Bulgnria), referring to chapter V of the Conunission’n report. 
(A/46/10), said that the inc:lu.rion in the draft. artic.\es of’ t>rovisionR on 
prevention brought t.he re.Lc+t.ionship lrt>twet)n State reaponsibi I . t.y ntul St nt.o 
liabiiity int.o pl.ay. It. wag obvious that B State’s I~.i lure t.o whirls by i t..r 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 14 

(&L.PetcoY,Bulaarira) 

obligation to prevent transbounclary harm entailed that State’s international 
responsibility. Accordingly, retaining the provisions on preventicn, as 
advocated by many States, would lead to a dual legal regime. Xf transboundary 
harm was caused by a lawful activity, the State or the private operator, as 
the case might be, would be liable for compensation, 

54. As stated in the report, there was a distinction to be made between 
procedural meaaurea and unilateral meaeuree of prevention. His deloqation 
supported the predominant view in the Commission that a separate, non-binding 
instrument on prevention, which would include the procedural obligations of 
states, should be drawn up. Such a document could take the form of 
recommendations, guidelines or model rules to be adopted by Statee in 
connection with a specific activity. In that case, another controversial 
concept, about which his deleqation had consistently expressed doubts, namely, 
“activities involving risk@‘, would not arise. 

55. A clear trend had emerged at the current session in support of the view 
that State responsibility should be entailed only where thc,re was a breach of 
a State’s legal obligations. If no such breach occurred, liability should 
rest with the private operator. Where a State conducted tho activities in 
question, the State should be liable for compensation; otherwipe, the State 
should be responsible for the breach of its legal obligations in terms of the 
above-mentioned unilateral measures of prevention, in other words, for the 
failure to act with due diligence. 

56. An instrument providing for such meaeurea could take the form of a 
framework convention or atnndarda of behaviolrr with binding force, as proposed 
by the representat,ive of Qermany, Since the difference between State 
reaponaibility and State liability depended OII whether the State was at fault, 
drafting two separate instruments, as proposed earlier, would mean that State 
liabil.ity would be entailed only if the State was carrying out a hazardous 
activity. 

57. His delegation saw merit in the United Kingdom proposal that the title; of 
the draft should be changed to “International responsibility for tranehoundary 
harm”, 

58, Turning to the topic “State responsibility”, he said it was regrettable 
that the Commiftsion had been unable to consider the third report of the 
Special Rapporteur. His delegation joined others in urging that priority 
should be given to the topic at the Commission’s next session. 

5cl. With regard to the topics to br included in the long--term programme of 
work of the Commission, his delegation believed that it would he preferable 
for the Cotrrmiasion to complete its work on the remaininq topics already on it.s 
ago nda . If a new topic was to be added, it should be done on the basis 
suggested by the representative of Austria. 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 15 

60. &,.J&Q (India) said there were a number of reasons why relatively little 
progress had been mac¶e in the Commission on the topic “International liability 
for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international 
law”, although the topic had been on the Commission’s agenda for many years. 
First, a goocr deal of preliminary effort had gone into Liefining the parameters 
of the topic as distinct from those of the international watercourses topic, 
on the one h>nd, and of State responsibility on the other. Second, 
developments in t.he environmental sphere, which had been particularly rapid 
and sweeping in recent year8, had had to be brought into focus. Third, the 
question of liability in any field depended on agreerrsnt being reached on the 
basic principles governing the activity concerned; thus, for example, 
liability for air pollution could only be discussed in the light of general 
principltts governing the control or limitation of air pollution and the 
establishment of air quality standards. No agreement had as yet been achieved 
on the general principles underlying the topic under consideration. Lastly, 
progress had been slow because the International Law Commission had been 
obliged to give priority to other items on its agenda. 

61. While it considered the topic to be highly important, his delegation felt 
that further careful analysis was ceiled for. A conceptual frumework dealing 
not only with liability but also with the preconditions for the operatjon of 
liability regimes should be established before giving consideration to 
specific draft articles. The preparatory work being done for the forthcoming 
United Nations Conference on Environment and Development might have some 
relevance in thlrt connection, Financjal and resource transfers to financially 
weaker and developing countries were an important means of enabling such 
colxitriee to orient their economies towards environmentally friendly methods 
of production, Programmes of international assistance, transfer of know-how 
and financial aid in emergency situations, as well as assistance designed to 
help States to deal with natural or environmental crises, were equally 
important. 

62. The principle that a State should bear full responsibility for any 
activity that might take place within its frontiers was, in his view, too 
simple and failed to take into account the role and responsibility of 
multinational corporations with independent financial resources and governing 
bodies answerable to no one but their shareholders. The special needs and 
limitations of financially weaker and developing countries should be studied 
carefull-y and in depth, as a separate matter. The dependency of such 
countries on foreign sources for technology, fund.;ng and even for their daily 
necessities should be a determining factor in apportioning liability for 
activities conducted within their borders. 

63. Certain principles of procedure discussed during the debate in the 
Commission, e.g. notification, consultation, negotiation and settlement of 
disputes concerning an environmentally “dangerfills” activity, should be defined 
more clearly with regard to both their contents and the scope of their 
application. In their current form, those principles were of little use, and 
their consideration raised contentious issues which might enter into conflict 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 16 

(Mr., Rao, Indiq) 

with other important principles of international law, such as sovereign 
equality of States, sovereignty of States over their people and territory, and 
sovereignty over natural resources. Instead of being conducive to 
cooperation, many of the procedural principles in question might well lead to 
disputes between States, especially in the absence of an agreed understanding 
between them on measures to be employed, safety standards to be monitored and 
steps to be taken in the case of inherently or potentially dangerous 
activities. 

64. Indeed, the question could be asked whether a common code on liability 
was desirable or even necessary, The view had been expressed in the 
Commission that, for example, activities involving nuclear hazards were best 
dealt with in conventions dealing with that subject, just as liability for 
activities involving environmental pollution or, more specifically, the ozone 
layer should ideally be dealt with in the separate conventions devoted to 
those matters. 

65. In the light of those considerations, he wished to recommend that the 
Commission should give careful analysis to the question of its future action 
on the topic, possibly by setting up a special working group to consider the 
issue. His delegation had an open mind as to the course such future action 
might take, including the option of producing a set of model principles or 
guidelines rather than a draft convention. 

66, Turning to the question of the Commission's work on other topics, 
particularly that of State responsibility, he said his delegation was not in a 
position to make specific comments on that important issue at the current 
stage but had no doubt that significant progress would be achieved in the 
coming years. As for the programme, procedures and working methods of the 
Commission, he would support all proposals with due regard for financial 
considerations. He was also inclined to support the suggestion that the 
session of the Commission should be split in two parts. 

67. Mr. CASTILLO (Venezuela) said that the international liability of States 
for legal acts was an important regulatory mechanism of international 
relations. In the modern world, internationally wrongful acts could not be 
the only basis for the international liability of States, and legal activities 
of States also could give rise to international liability in respect of other 
States and of individuals. 

63. His delegation joined the consensus on the principle that the State had a 
sovereign right to carry out lawful activities within its territory but must 
ensure that the activities did not cause transboundary harm. The State had an 
obligation to adopt all necessary measures to ensure that activities within 
its territory did not cause harm beyond its frontiers. The draft articles 
must also include the obligation to adopt preventive measures before 
transboundary harm occurred and to make provision for measures to deal with 
harm when it did occur. A State should adopt unilateral measures, whether 
legislative. regulatory or administrative, to restrict harm caused by an 
operator in its territory to another State or to individuals in that State. 

/ .  l .  



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 17 

69, In respect of reparation, hia delegation felt that there muat be joint 
liability1 that of the operator in the first place, and that of the State in 
the second. The Commission must consider the most effective way of ensuring 
that the innocent victim wae adequately indemnified. It wae essential that 
joint reaponsibflity of the individual and the State should be defined clearly 
so as to ensure adequate reparation for harm. The principle that the innocent 
victim should not be left to bear the loss alone must be one of the 
foundations of the draft instrument, 

70. His delegation shared the concern about the constant deterioration of the 
environmentr adequate international measures and norma must be adopted to deal 
with that situation, However, in some casea it was difficult to determine the 
origin of damage and reparation for itI there were also serious difficulties 
in establishing mechanisms to make such determinations and defining their 
jurisdiction and competence. Damage to the “global commons” was not 
sufficiently clear to permit the eatablirbment of the relevant legal norm8 and 
principles, Separate legal instruments should be adopted embodying the 
recommendations of the Stockholm Declaration and of other international texta, 
but the draft articles could contain a very general provision on the 
environment. 

71. On the question of the title of the topic, his delegation felt that it 
wa8 closely related to the Commission’s mandate and that there was a 
significant substantive difference between the words “acts” and "sctivities" 
which would definitely affect the mope and content of the draft. The term 
“St’ in Spanish would be broader and more in keeping with the 
functions of a State, The content of the draft must be brought in line with 
the title without departing from the mandate given to the Commission. It was 
important to define the nature of the instrument to be drafted) hin delegation 
felt that a framework car-rention of a general nature which would facilitate 
and encourage the c nclusion of bilateral agreements was the most appropriate 
solution. 

72. Mr_L.e&j (Bahrain), referring to chapter VII of the COI?NldBBiO~~‘B 

report (A/43/10), said that, while time constraints had prevented the 
Commission from considering the topic “State responsibility” at its latest 
session, it wt1s to be hoped that a high priority would be given to the topic 
in future years, as it was of practical importance to States. 

73. The Special Rapporteur’s third report on the topic dealt with the legal 
regime of measures that an injured State could take against a State which 
committed an international delict. His delegation recommended caution in the 
use of “reprisals” as a generic term for the unilateral measures adopted by a 
State; the term had long been associated with the use of force, and it was 
generally agreed that any act of reprisal involving force was, RQ~.~Q, 

unlawful. Moreover, in view of the controversy surrounding types of 
reprisals, his delegation suggested that a more neutral term should be 
substituted, such as “response”. 



A/C,6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 18 

(k.UiwAl -Bahuxa- E&hr.&-i 1 

74. With regard to paragraph 313 of the Commission’s report, he agreed that 
if responses were to be lawful, an internationally wrongful act must in fact 
have occurred. A bona fide belief that such an act had been committed would 
not be sufficient to justify la-wful instrumental measures. Such measures 
would be adopted at the risk of the responding State and would entail its 
international responsibility, The case of “defensive” measures against an 
anticipated attack illustrated that point. While his delegation agreed with 
the Special Rapporteur that measures might have both restitutive and penal 
functions, that duality obscured the distinction between the two kinds of 
consequences of delicts. 

75. In his first. two repL ts, the Special Rapporteur had drawn a distinction 
between instrumental or procedural consequences and substantive consequences, 
which included remedies of cessation and reparation. The overlap between 
those two categories could be seen in the fact that instrumental measures 
could be employed to secure substantive remedies. There would be less of on 
overlap if the remedies were differentiated on the basis of those which vested 
solely in one party, namely, the affected State, and those which vested in all 
States, either individually or jointly. The distinguishing feature was that a 
failure on the part of the delinquent State to repair the wrong would, in the 
appropriate circumstances, be seen as a secondary wrong. 

76. With regard to the purposes of countermeasures, the attribution of 
retributive functions to them was difficult to accept, since the international 
community regarded tha adoption of punitive measures agaiilst coequal States as 
abhorrent. Accordingly, he suggeated that the retributive function should be 
accorded a secondary status and should be applied only where there was a gross 
abuse of the law, with grave repercussions on the affected State. It followed 
that great significance should be attached to the compensatory and reparative 
aspects of countermeasures. 

77. Paragraph 315 concerned prior demands of cessation, reparation and 
compensation, which must always be regarded as trle mandatory first step in a 
graduated process of responses; however, his delegation preferred not to draw 
distinctions of dQl.us in the issuance of preliminary demands, even where t.he 
delict was continuing. Demands could be dispensed with where grave danger to 
life and limb and irreparable harm to property were imminent, provided that 
the measures adopted were consistent with preventing the recurrence of such 
situations. 

78. Paragraph 316 dealt with the question of whether responses could lawfully 
be undertaken by the injured State before it resorted to one or more of the 
dispute settlement procedures provided in Article 33 of the Charter. His 
delegation believed that, to the extent t.hat the impugned rlcglict breached or 
threatened to breach international peace and security, Article 33 became, 

iP$Q facto, operational, and must therefore be satisfied. Where no such 
international situations existed, Article 33 would not be applicable, and the 
rules under the proposed instrument would take precedence. As for interim 
measures preceding prior demands, they were difficult to accept, because they 
were open to abuse and were conducive to an escalation of hostility. 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 19 

(Mr.,...Aldbharna~... B.Phr.raLn) 

19. With regard to the proportionality of measures referred to in 
paragraph 317, his delegation wss fully aware of the difficulties inherent in 
the concept, and considered it inappropriate to attempt to formulate a 
definition of proportionality. Further,nore, the relationship between 
proportionality and other criteria, such as the nature of the delict and the 
damage caused, was best kept flexible so that t’:e scope of application of the 
concept would remain as wide as possible. At any rate, responses which 
exceeded proportionality could themselves create responsibility for the 
responding State, 

80, Paragraph 318 referred to the suspension and the termination of treaties 
in response to an internationally wrongful act, a proposition which his 
delegation could not support because it transgressed the fundamental doctrine 
of p.a.c.tn-aunt_aerYMti * Nor would it be more acceptable if the suspension and 
the termination h:ld been caused by minor breaches. However , where the delicts 
were closely linked with the purposes of the treaty, it could justifiably be 
suspended and terminated. That would be consistent with article 60 of the 
1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Trcrat:es. In that connection, the 
Commission might consider whether a material breach of a multilateral treaty 
creating indivisible rights between parties necessarily entitled any one or 
more of the parties to suspend the treaty with respect to itself as provided 
for in article 60, paragraph 2 (c), of the Convention, If every affected 
party suspended treaties, that would ensure the collapse of the treaty 
regime. Accordingly, his delegation was of the view that “self-contained 
regimes”, which by definition were indivisible, should be excluded from the 
measures of suspension an9 termination, thereby giving full rein to the 
collective dispute-settlement machinery, 

81, In the cont.ext of paragraph 319, his delegation shared the Commission’s 
scepticism with regard to the classification of the “directly” injured and the 
“indirectly” injured State. Such a classification was difficult to apply in 
specific cases, especially where certain States tended to fall into both 
categories. It would be more useful to empharize that where there was 0 
delict, there was a remedy, the scope of which depended on the nature of the 
delict, The response must be compatible with the degree cf injury suffered, 
provided that the injury was assessed according to objective criteria. Hence 
it was irrelevant whether the injury had been causecl directly or indirectly] 
as long as a State could show substantial wrongdoing on the part of the 
offending State, there would he a right of proportionate response. 

82. He agreed with the comments made in paragraphs 320 to 322 concerning 
substantive limitations on responses. Such limitations must be based on 
well-recognized rules and ( 1ncept.s. Countermeasures could not violate the 
fundamental rule against the use of force, infringe humanitarian principles or 
ignore jw wgenb. Accordingly, limitations based on controversial rules, 
such as economic measures, would probably be ignored in practice. Lastly, the 
proposed rule should stipulate that. measures adoptod in contravention of those 
principles would entail the responsibility of the affected State. 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 20 

83, Mr;-ASwENKQ (Belarus) said that the topic “International liability for 
injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international 
1 aw”, by virtue of its complexity, was not one on which rapid progress could 
be etxpec ted, but it was unfortunate that the Drafting Committee had been 
unable to consider the articles autmitted to it by the International Law 
Commission since 1988. His delegation none the less welcomed the unanimous 
decision by the Commission to devote attention to the issue in the coming five 
years as a matter of priority. 

84. Environmental concerns were gsnarating increasing disquiet, particularly 
in his own country in the wake of the tragic events ;? April 1986 at the 
Chernobyl nuclear reactor. The consequences of such disasters could not be 
borne by one State alone, so there was clearly a need for States to cooperate 
in mitigating their effects. 

85. The title of the draft articles, in its existing form, was cumbersome and 
should be amended, as suggeated by the United Kingdom representative to read 
“International responsibility for transboundary harm”, 

86. It appeared from paragraph 202 of the Commission’s report that opinions 
within the Commission differed on the nature of the instrument to be drafted. 
His delegation favoured a binding framework convention, provided that it would 
be acceptable to a majority of States. Consideration should be given to 
activities which involved a risk of transboundary harm and also to those which 
actually caused such harm. If a State engaged in the former type of 
activities, it must pursue a resolute policy of diminishing the element of 
risk, and must exercise due control of the activity. The basic principle 
should be that Bn innocent victim shou3.d not have to meet the coats of the 
harm caused. 

87. As to the question of a list of dangerous substances or activities, his 
delegation would prefer to establish general criteria for cleterlnining types of 
activities entailing A risk of harm, A list could never be exhaustive, and 
would take up a great deal of the Commission’s time, although it might 
admittedly provide guidelines for preventive measures. 

88. In paragraph 223 of the Commission’s report it was noted that a 
combination of civil and State liability seemed to be favoured by most members 
of the Commission. According to that approach, residual liability would he 
assigned to the State. His delegation considered, however, that t.he State in 
whose territory a permitted activity, In both the public and private sectors, 
was carried on exercised ultimate aut.hority. It would therefore make sense to 
refer to a primary liability of the State at the international level to 
provide compensation for the harm caused to other States or to their citizens. 

09. At t.he same time a St.ate should not have to bear the full cost of the 
hnrm cnusetl. He agreed with the visw thclt. a system should be established 
whereby reqimos of State liability complemented each other. At.tention should 
be qiven to the question of urqent. assist,lnce in cases of environmental 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 21 

emergency, and provision made for establishing machinery for effectively 
mobilising the efforts of the international community in order to mitigate the 
consequences of the harm caused. A compensation fund for such emergencies 
might also be envisaged. 

90. In that connection, he pointed out that the Standing Committee on 
Liability for Nuclear Damage established within the International Atomic 
Energy Agency in 1990 had considered the issue of compensation and its 
relationship to the international regime of civil liability. 

91. In conclusion, he said that the issue of damage to the “global commons”, 
referred to in paragraphs 234 to 259 of the Commission’s report, should not be 
considered in the context of the topic of international liability, but rather 
as a separate part of the Commission’s long-term programme of work. 

92, Mr, Vm (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics), referring to the 
topic “International liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts 
not prohibited by international law”, said that his delegation largely agreed 
with the Special Rapportsur and the Commission that international law lacked a 
generally accepted principle of strict liability, and that, in general, any 
future instrument must be based on an equitable balance between the interests 
of all countries. His delegation believed that such liability should arise 
only in the case of activities involving risk, and that the threshold for 
liability should be raised from “appreciable” to “significant” or “serious” 
harm. Consideration should also be given to establishing a list of dangerous 
substancoe or activities. Hazardous activity should be acknowledged as an 
essential element of strict liability, but his delegation did not accept an 
interpretation which would make strict liability contingent on the occurrence 
of tracsboundary harm of any kind. 

93. At the same time, it would not deny the importance of the existence of 
harm in giving rise to liability. It was evident that liability could and 
should arise, not as a result of risk, but only if harm were used as a 
result of a haznrdous activity, and only if the activity were on a suffici !rlt 
scaler harm might be caused both by lawful and by unlawful acts or activities 
and could lead either to strict liability or, in the case of negligence, lack 
of due diligence, or a breach of standards of conduct, to responsibility. Tho 
problem lay in defirling the origin and nature of liability. If harm were 
caused by an activity involving risk, but the State concerned acted fully in 
accordarce with its obligations, the harm caused might simply be considered 
the result of forces beyond the control of the States in such a case the 
State in which the event took place and the State incurring the transboundery 
harm were both victims, and must cooperate in ramedying the situation. 
However, failure to comply with obligation3 led to another kind of 1itibilit.y 
which should be clearly differentiated. 



A/C,6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 22 

(Mr, Verenikin, U.SSR) 

94. An equitable aolution to the problem would tal:e due account of the status 
And role of the operat,or and the State, without detracting from the latter’s 
absolute liability for th c) activities of the former. It would therefore be 
appropriate for the draft articles to invoke the notion of civil liability of 
operntors in conformity with State practice. 

95. His delegation favoured the idea of reducing the amount of compensation 
payable by the State of origin if the nature of the activity and the 
circumstances indicated that it would be equitable to divide the coat between 
i;hat State and the State sufrering the transboundary harm. It should also be 
pointed out that the question of compensation should be contingent upon the 
existence of an appropriate agreement. 

93, His delegation aqreed with the approach in draft article 17, which listed 
the factors that should be token into account by States in conducting 
negotiations aimed at achieving an equitable balance of interests in relation 
to an activity causing, or creating a risk of causing, trensboundary harm. 

97. Article 20 established obligations to prevent possible harmr a breach of 
those obligations would entail a liability which went beyond the limits of 
strict liability. In the light of the current practice of States, his 
delegation was opposed to the concept of the primary liability of the State of 
origin! direct material liability for tranaboundary harm should lie with the 
operator rather than the State, 

90. His delegation agreed witi the idea expressed in article 23 that 
compensation should be reduced if the State of origin had taken precautionary 
monsuros solely for t.he purpose of preventing transhoundary harm, 

09, His delegation emphnsized that, in goneral, when the draft articles were 
given furthor consideration, the interests of the State of origin should be 
taken int.o account, The proposal to include damage to the environment merited 
furthor study in association with experts and ecologists. Tho topic of harm 
caused t.o the “global commons” was also important., and principles and norms 
for environmental protection in those areas must be developed in separate 
agreements which paid due regard to the specific features and RtAtus of the 
oxistinq legal inat~ruments in that. field. The question of strict liability 
for hnrm caused t.o the “global commons”, however, should he considered aa A 
distinct. and highly complex issue. 

LOO. Mr, SUY (fh?lqium), spnnkinq on the topic “lnt.ernat,ional linbi 1 it y for 
injurious consequences arising orrt. of acts trot prohibited by int.ernational 
1 aw” , said ho aqrentl with t.ha Spncinl Rnpport.o,rrr t.hat. existing international 
l)r,~ct‘ico, WhiCh WAS (lhi*tlf7l flc7 rnpidly, should bn carefully oxamincd before 
spnci f’ic provisions wt)rtl I ini\lizotl. Any vi.olat.ion of int.urnational law 
involvocl iltl 1? lamt)nt of. St ,\t.o 1 ilIhi Ii t.y, but. t.hc problem lay in est.iIhl ishitq 

Wtlilt moatis Wf! I‘(! r~~I~il,~l~lt! t.0 t.ho injurocl St.at.c! in responding to such A 
viol;\1 ion. (it-no rit 1 1 y :;Iw,\ k i t111 it WAS nckt~owl(,(l[7t~d t.hnt. first. resort. must. h(! 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 23 

to procedures for the peaceful settlement of disputes8 an injured State could 
not take countermeasures, such as sanctions and reprisals, until it had 
exhAusted those procedures, and it no longer had the unilateral right it ilad 
enjoyed in the peat to exercise judgement in such matters. 

101. With that background in mind he wished to raise a number of questions and 
considerations in connection with the Special Rapporteur’s seventh report 
(A/CN.4/437 and Corr.1). The first was whether reference should be made in 
thb draft articles to the suspension or termination of treaties, an area of 
international law which was regulated by the 1969 Vienna Convention on the LRW 
of Treaties. 

102. Secondly, the various United Nations declarations and resolutions 
prohibiting armed reprisals should be borne in mind in the context of 
countermeasures, including the requirement in Article 2, paragraph 4, of the 
Charter that States “refrain in their international relations f ram the throat. 
or use of force”, In that context it would also be desirable to bear in mind 
the rules and practice of the Security Council and regional organizations. 

103. Thirdly, it might be appropriate to draw a distinction between the 
liability of a Sttite in respect of a breach of the peace and security of 
mankind and a breach of its other international obligations8 the consequences 
of violating a double-taxation agreement, for example, should be different- 
from those arising from a violation of the prohibition on the use of armed 
force. 

104. Last:ly, he observed t.hat the principle of proportionality of response, 
although clesrly estilblishod, qnve rise to difficult problems which might 
themselves ongondor now disp.~t.os finA creat.e situations of conflict. 

1.05, Mr, ROSENSTOCK (United States of America) said that his delegation shnred 
the concern expressad in the Commission and the Committee that the topic 
“I~~ternational liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not 
prohi.bited by international law” was not proving amenable to codification. It 
aqreod with the representative of the United Kingdom that the topic fell 
qat.urfll.ly within the ambit nf State responsibility; at its next session, the 
Commission should clnrify the relationship between the two topics. His 
deleqntion also felt thnt the Commission was trying to take on too much. The 
t.opic included ult.rnhazardous Activit..iss about which there was a fair amount. 
of aqroemsnt, but also a wide range of other activities whjch could result. in 
t.ranshoundary hi\rm hut which could well require different liability regimes. 
The 1 aw in many 0 f those areits was still at a very early stage of development. 
ijnd if t.ht? Commission at.t.omptad to &dress all activities that involved ri.sk 
t.;hr! t.r)p i c wou 1~1 hocomct much t oo broad and unwieldy. 

101i. Ilis ClC!lOc~~~t. ion il(~r(!c?d t.lli\t. it. wns too early to take a definite v.iow of 
t.ho f orrn t.ho rlraf 1. inst t urwnt. s~10111cl t.ako. It.. felt that the Commission should 
I O~!ll!i on t h(> I>r‘c!I)a\riJt ion of f~\~itl~l irlc?n or principles, on t-he hnsin of fin 



A/C.6/46/SR.35 
English 
Page 24 

(Mr. Rose-k, U&&d States) 

analysis of State practice, rather than a draft convention, and should take 
careful note of the summary analysis provided by the representative of 
Yugoslavia. 

107. His deleqation agreed that it would ‘lot be helpful for the Commission to 
prepare a list of activities to which th ‘.I future instrument would apply 
because that would create a risk of incompleteness and overreaching. It felt 
that damage to the @‘global commons” should not be included in ‘.he topic since 
that subject involved significantly different consider,tions and was much 
broader in scope and would therefore delay the Commission’s work. His 
delegation wished to make it clear that liability for harm must fall nn the 
operator rather than the State unless the State would be liable under the 
existing principles of State responsibility. The Commission should give 
greater recognition to the relationship of the topic to the topic “State 
responsibility”. 

108. At first glance, none of the topics on the preiiminary list 0: topics for 
future consideration, with the poss!.ble exception of the law of confined 
international groundwaters, seemed to fall clearly within the Commission’s 
mandate or to be of sufficient importance to merit priority consideratirbn. 
The Commission had enough current topics to consider in the immediate future 
and should concentrate on completing the first reading of the draft articles 
on State responsibility, including reconsideration of the controversial 
part one with a view to eliminating article 19 and simplifying the text. That 
work and the work LA jurisdictional immun.ities would round out the 
Commission’s work on the major classical topics within its natural area of 
competence as an expert body and some more specific issues would remain. The 
Commission’s consideration of the issues of an international criminal court, 
and its work on international watercourses and the injurious consequences 
arising out of acts not prohibitad by international law, would take up most of 
the next quinquenniumt the Commission should not overload its aqenda and must 
be able to take on short-term tasks. 

101. Communication between the General Assembly, particularly the Sixth 
Committee, and the Comnission were important and could be improved so as to 
enable the Commission to accord priority in accordance with the wis!les of 
States and produce drafts that were broadly acceptable to States. The 
Committee could maintain its practice of topic-by-topic consideration of items 
and revert t*, the practice of hearing omnibus statements at the qnd of its 
debate. The Chairman of the Commission should introduce the Commission’s 
report topic by topic, and give responses in the same manner at the end of the 

debat.e. States must indicate their wisnos to the Commission instead or 
waiting until a late stage to voice objections; it was of critical importance 
for States t,o inform the Commission of any doubts about the utility of t:opir.s 
before scarc,o human resources were wasted on them. His delegat.ion c\gref?t! with 
the reprascntativo of BFaZil that %he second part of the topic “Relations 
between St:at,os and international organizntions” did not merit priority. 
Stat:os rnlrst: bt! sure to answer requests for writ.ten comments so as t-0 give 



A/C,6/46/SR,35 
English 
Page 25 

adequate guidance to the Commiss:on, The Commission, in turn, could do more 
to help the Committee and Sttites focus on the questions to which it needod 
answers and could make a greater effort to end topic8 with A list of succinct 
questions and some alternative answers for States to choose between, The 
Commission could ask for written commente at turning points in its 
consideration rather than at the conclusion of its reatling And should ask 
specific questions. It ahould also feel free to turn down requests from the 
Committee, The Commission could split *its fleasions and make groster u8e of 
small working groups and friends of the Special Rapporteurl it could also give 
a greldter role to the Secretariat, especially now that the former political 
problems had disappeared. 

AGENDA ITEM 1318 REPOR'I' OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON THE CHARTER OF THE UNITED 
NATIONS AND ON THE STRENGTHENING OF THE RC -II OF THR ORGANIZATION (cQ&~M~) 
(AK.61461L.7, L.9) 

110. WBAIRMBPII: announced that Colombia .. J become A sponsor of draft 
decision A1C.61461L.7 and that Hungary had become A sponsor of draft 
resolution A/C.6/46/t.9. 

AGENDA ITEM 124; UNITED NATIONS PROGRAMME OF ASSISTANCE IN THE TEACHfNG, 
STUDY, ~1st ;~~INATIO~~ AND WIDER APPRECIATION 0~ INTERNATIONAL LAW (~/C.t5146/5) 

111. ThR.CHAIR&H drew attention to document A/C.614615 on the question of the 
Advisory Committoe on the Programme and said ?:hat the regional groups should 
ti\lbrnit candidatures of States wishing to serve on the Advisory Committee for 
the session beginning on 1 January 1992. 


